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PROLOGUE


19 AUGUST 1936


Australia’s Sweetheart is leaving for Hollywood and the Sydney pier is crowded with people who’ve come to watch her set sail on the Mariposa. Standing on the promenade deck of the mighty white liner, Mary Maguire waves to the multitude five storeys below. There are two thousand people down there on Darling Harbour’s Wharf 1A. Most are seeing off family and friends. But many are fans of Australia’s newest movie star. Trying not to sob like she did yesterday at her Brisbane farewell, the raven-haired seventeen-year-old smiles for everyone braving this winter morning to wave and shout best wishes.


The ship’s whistle gives two blasts, then there’s the cry of ‘All visitors ashore!’ The boys from The Sun, Truth and the Sydney Morning Herald take their final pictures of Mary. She tries to look composed in her black fur coat as she clutches a floral bouquet and poses beside a lifebuoy on the railing. Raising a gloved hand in a farewell wave, wind whipping her hair every which way, she laughs as the flashbulbs pop and the Fox Movietone newsreel camera whirs. After wishing her good luck, the reporters, photographers and cameramen go ashore.


Mary has a last round of hugs and handshakes with some of the friends and film colleagues who have just put on a huge cocktail party for her in the ship’s ballroom. When they’ve left she stands with her father, Mick, at a railing lined with other passengers. Stewards hand out rolls of coloured streamers, and the Maguires and their fellow passengers rain these down on the well-wishers below. Within seconds a dazzling paper rainbow connects ship to shore.


It’s 10.57 a.m.: just three minutes until they begin their voyage. A tiny part of Mary wishes she could get off the boat. Go back home. Go back to the way things were. Go back to a life where she’s not always the centre of attention and always expected to smile even if she feels like crying. Just for a day.


But Mary chides herself for such an ungrateful thought. Upon boarding the Mariposa she signed many autographs for excited young Australian girls. She knows they can’t expect much more from life than school and shop or secretarial work for a few years before they marry and become their mothers. Any of them would kill to be in her shoes: adored, beautiful, wealthy and setting sail for even greater fame and fortune. Mary knows she has a duty to be happy. She isn’t just living her dream – she’s living all of their dreams.


‘The most famous girl in Australia’ and ‘The envy of many a girl in Australia’: they’re phrases the newspapers have used to describe her. Mary can’t deny how lucky she is; just like she can’t help the hurt in her heart. Mother, sisters, best friends: this morning they’re more than six hundred miles away in Brisbane. Although making movies has meant such separation before, this is very different because soon the people Mary loves most will be more than seven thousand miles distant. There’s no way of knowing when she’ll see them again – any more than she knows what really awaits her on the other side of the Pacific Ocean.


At least Mary has her dad. Big, tough Mick: blue eyes twinkling as he smiles proudly; he’s well padded these days but still dapper in his three-piece suit. He may no longer be a welterweight champion, yet with him in her corner everything will be fine. Surely.


Moments before eleven o’clock, the Mariposa’s whistle sounds three times. The hawser lines are tossed off deck, the boat’s engines rumble and its twin stacks belch smoke. This is it. She’s really leaving. It seems like just yesterday she was Peggy Maguire, Brisbane convent girl, destined only to see Hollywood glamour from her seat in the local picture palace.


As the wharf band strikes up ‘Aloha ‘Oe’, which translates to ‘Farewell to Thee’, passengers and well-wishers sing along and whisper its haunting refrain, ‘Until we meet again’. Tugboats help the big liner away from shore. It’s a marvellous and melancholy spectacle as thousands of colourful streamers strain and then snap, symbolising all the ties broken by this departure.


The Mariposa rounds Miller’s Point and slides beneath the mighty arch of the Sydney Harbour Bridge. Gaining speed, saluted by honking ferries, the ship steams eastwards as Mary takes a last look at this city. While it was never really home like Melbourne or Brisbane, Sydney holds a place in her heart because it was where she was first considered for Hollywood.


Swell deepening, air saltier with sea spray, the ship surges past Sydney Heads and into the open ocean. Mary is leaving Australia behind for the first time. As the cliffs and beaches recede in the ocean haze, it’s far from clear what her life will be like when she next sees these shores. Countless hopeful young women wash out in Hollywood every year. She might become one of them. She may have been better off staying a big fish in a small pond. But if she does make it in America, then the next time she sees Australia she might be a star as big as …


Janet Gaynor? Helen Hayes? Luise Rainer? Maureen O’Sullivan? Thinking of these goddesses conjures a reverie of shiny limousine doors held open at gala premieres as searchlights sweep the sky above Grauman’s Chinese Theater and –


The cries of the dozens of seagulls following the boat shatter any reverie. Australia has slipped out of sight behind the liner. Unable to know that she will never again lay eyes on the country of her birth, Mary seeks out the luxury of the Mariposa and starts counting down the days until she takes on Hollywood.




PART ONE


Australia
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1.


Hollywood as we know it didn’t exist when Mary Maguire’s mother was born on 20 November 1890. American moving pictures were then just starting to be made in Thomas Edison’s New Jersey laboratory, and the world’s future filmmaking capital was nothing more than a modest farming community perched on the edge of the California desert. In this respect it wasn’t dissimilar to Mary Carroll’s birthplace of Lillimur, home to a hundred hardy souls living off the land in arid north-western Victoria. This tiny town was where her father, Daniel Carroll, who ran a horse-breeding business with his brother, had brought her mother, also named Mary, after they married at St Patrick’s Church in Adelaide in 1887. A good Irish Catholic couple, they set about having a big brood. Their first daughter was born in 1888. Baby Mary, who’d be known to all as ‘Bina’, came along two years later. A son followed in 1891.


Carroll Bros. had prospered in the 1880s but the business faltered as Australia slid into economic depression. Unable to pay the rent on the farm, they were forced to liquidate, with Melbourne’s Leader noting that the sale of all their worldly possessions – from furniture and farm equipment to pigs and horses – raised a dismal few pounds at auction. Daniel and his wife and children started over on a farm in Goyura, another flyspeck on the map of north-western Victoria, and had two more surviving children in the next few years. Life on the land didn’t get any easier, not with depression followed by drought, and the family moved to Melbourne around 1897. They settled where there was work, in the industrial and shipping hub of Newport, and Daniel got a job as a railway signalman. It was a position he would keep for fifteen years – which was just as well because, with another two children added to the family, he wound up with nine mouths to feed.


Bina grew up knowing she could only have a better life through hard work, a willingness to seize opportunity and an abiding faith in God. She saw proof of this as her people came up in the world. By 1909 the family had moved to a cottage in Middle Park, where the air was fresher, the streets were wider and they were just a short walk from the bay. Three years later the Carrolls were within a block of the beach, in a handsome two-storey brick terrace house in Middle Park’s Ashworth Street. This upward mobility was made possible by Daniel’s steady salary, supplemented by the contributions his children made as they left school at age fourteen and got jobs.


By 1912 Bina was working as a confectioner and had come of age as a compact but voluptuous Black Irish beauty. In 1913, at a time when many young women remained at home until they married, she showed her independence by moving to Bendigo, where she worked as a waitress.


How Bina came to meet Mick Maguire isn’t recorded. She may have known of him before they laid eyes on each other because he was a minor Melbourne celebrity – and quite the catch, even if a bit of a bad boy.
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Mick was the eldest son of Michael Maguire, a bareknuckle boxer and Schweppes soft drink company salesman, who had married Ellen Shaw in 1892. Like the Carrolls, they were good Irish Catholics. After their first son died as an infant, they had Mick, born on 6 June 1894, then four more children. The family lived in working-class Abbotsford, which, like adjacent suburbs Richmond and Collingwood, was known for its hardscrabble conditions. Even so, Mick went to Christian Brothers College up the hill in East Melbourne, his father’s salary either sufficient to cover fees or the school waiving expenses as they sometimes did for Catholic families in need. In any event, the young Maguire was an asset for CBC because, while no academic achiever, he was a great sportsman.


So great that, in addition to captaining his school’s football team to a Grand Final win in 1910, fifteen-year-old Mick that year played professionally for Richmond’s beloved Tigers in the Victorian Football League (VFL). Despite being the youngest player in the club’s history, that season he triumphed as its leading goal kicker – and claimed the title again in 1911. Photos show a cockily handsome chap with hooded eyes, Roman nose, full lips and strong jaw beneath dark hair slicked in a centre part. Standing five feet eleven and already full of brash charm, this local hero was surely a hit with the ladies.


Mick was also tough. He had to be. The VFL was then a blood sport, with much handwringing done by columnists, club officials, politicians and policemen about how to curb outrageous on-field violence. But Mick could handle himself better than most. Trained in the ‘fistic art’ by his father, he wasn’t just a brilliant young football player but also a promising young boxer who had his first public match when he was eleven years old. By early 1911, aged sixteen, he was fighting professionally, and in March that year won £20 by beating future Australian featherweight champion Jack Green. For a kid living at home, Mick was doing well for money. In addition to his fight winnings, he and his fellow football players were from that year paid up to thirty shillings a week, which was close to the minimum male wage then calculated to take into account supporting a wife and three children.


Yet Mick wasn’t content to coast along, defecting from the Richmond Tigers to the Melbourne Redlegs halfway through the 1912 season. In a sport dominated by suburban loyalties – not to mention Christian denominations, for Richmond was Catholic and Melbourne was Protestant – the decision had to have made him a few enemies. But it showed he was a young bloke willing to follow opportunity.


Not that Mick was too sensible. He took pleasure in punching on and partying, and he was an enthusiastic brawler and boozer on a Redlegs trip to play ‘friendly’ games in Tasmania. His fondness for on-field fisticuffs saw him make history at the start of the 1913 football season. The VFL had just set up the first independent tribunal to investigate complaints and issue punishments. On 7 May it held its first inquiry into a player – Mick. He had the previous Saturday not only kicked four goals against the University side but also punched out two of its players. After hearing evidence – including Mick’s unconvincing claim to have acted in self-defence – the committee disqualified him for four games. ‘Let this be a warning to other players,’ the chairman said. ‘As far as Mr Maguire is concerned, he must learn to control his boxing proclivities on the football field and keep them for the gymnasium.’


As he copped this suspension, Mick knew he was about to be judged on a far more serious matter. In his pocket was a summons to appear at Richmond Court for missing fifteen days of the compulsory military training then required of all men aged eighteen to sixty. Defending the charge, he offered a laughable excuse for a man earning a good living as a boxer and footballer: he hadn’t been physically fit enough to do his sworn duty. That Mick even tried this excuse suggests a chancer always ready to see what he could get away with. Fined ten shillings, he was ordered into military police custody for fifteen days to do his drill.


Mick played for the Redlegs through 1913 and finished with the team early in the 1914 season. Though his goal-scoring had slowed, he had another reason for quitting. Boxing greatness beckoned – if only he could knuckle down to knuckling up. ‘Our fighting footballer,’ remarked a 1913 Referee article, ‘generally trains in a lackadaisical manner.’ Nevertheless, Reginald ‘Snowy’ Baker saw potential. Australia’s Olympic hero and all-round sporting champion had become a boxing promoter and praised Mick’s great punching power and ability to take hard knocks. Snowy booked him for major fights at the Melbourne Athletic Pavilion, promoting his ‘clever, quick, splendid judgment and defence’ in matches against local, interstate and international boxers. Mick won more often than he lost. ‘If young Maguire would only train seriously there is no telling how high he would rise in the game,’ wrote Referee in July 1914. Respected boxing journalist ‘Solar Plexus’ weighed in with the observation: ‘A more promising or finer-looking youngster I don’t ever remember seeing.’


After the Great War began in August, pressure built for young men to enlist, as Les Darcy, Snowy Baker’s most famous boxer, would soon discover when he was taunted as a coward. But, just like Darcy, Mick was under-age. He couldn’t legally sign up without parental consent before his twenty-first birthday in June 1915.


In any event, married men, especially those with children, weren’t expected to enlist – and Mick was soon to be both.
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On 17 March 1915, Mick and Bina married at the Carmelite Church in Middle Park. The bride and groom adored and complemented each other. He was a strong, popular man of independent means who would be a good provider and father. She was an independent and hard-working woman whose pragmatism would help rein in his unruly energies. That Bina was more than three years older than her new husband also gave her more authority in the relationship. They moved into a rented house in Port Melbourne and started planning a family.


Mick had by then taken work as a clerk for a rails bookmaker at race meetings. Managing hordes of excited punters was a stressful job, but it gave the popular sportsman the chance to expand his contact network in racing-mad Melbourne. In mid-1915 Mick finally listened to his critics and got serious about boxing, heading to Sydney to spend several months training and trying to rustle up big fights. He scored one in August at the Stadium against British welterweight champion Arthur Evernden. By the twelfth round Mick’s eye bled freely and he was snorting crimson spray. But he slugged on to victory in the twentieth. Returning to Melbourne, Mick, with his dad in his corner, took on Britain’s Nicol Simpson. Though ‘loose-fleshed and loose-limbed’ and half a stone lighter than his ‘fine, muscled up’ opponent, Referee reported Mick was ‘wonderfully improved’ since his last home-town fight. Mick won on the referee’s decision, and the crowd ‘cheered and cheered’. Three months later in Brisbane, he vanquished Henri Demlin, a victory that later saw him claim to have bested Australia’s most famous boxer. ‘I beat Les Darcy, too,’ he would say, blue eyes twinkling. ‘Of course, I did. I knocked out that Frenchman in sixteen rounds, and it took Darcy twenty rounds to beat him, so doesn’t that prove that I beat Darcy?’ A great bit of Irish blarney, just so long as his drinking buddies forgot Demlin was Belgian, Darcy KO’ed him in round five and that Mick won after twenty rounds when the referee gave him the decision – with half the audience this time loudly dissenting.


Briefly promoted as Victoria’s welterweight champion, Mick could make reasonable money boxing. He pocketed up to £30 for big fights and, with side wagers reaching £100, he might walk away from a win with close to what an average office worker earned in a year.


But John Wren’s shadow loomed over his career. Melbourne’s powerbroker had become Snowy Baker’s business partner in January 1914 and was infamous for fixing sports events. Mick’s last big fight – against American Fritz Holland in Brisbane in December 1915 – certainly had a stink about it. Mick seemed scared from the start. He retreated continually until the fourth round when he dropped to the mat, apparently felled by a left hook. Mick stayed down for the count. But the crowd was incensed, and the referee ruled no contest. ‘I was chased from the ring, chased by embittered fans, pasting me with chairs,’ Mick would later say. ‘They reckoned I was loafing on it. They chased me down the aisle and into the street.’


His career took a dive after the Holland fight. Anyway, by now his little brother Andy, also a bookmaker’s clerk, was proving the better boxer. Mick took genuine pleasure in his sibling’s success, sparring and travelling with him. But brotherly affection would sour for Andy as he realised that no matter how good he was, Mick would always be their father’s favourite.
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Mick’s winnings had been welcome, but Bina was glad her handsome husband – who already had one cauliflowered ear – would no longer come home beaten black and blue. Now pregnant with their first child, she had even more reason to be concerned about his health. Their baby was born in early 1916 and they named her Mary. But she died in infancy. Bina was soon pregnant again, and on 17 November 1916 welcomed baby Patricia at Coonara Private Hospital in St Kilda. Happily, this little girl thrived.


Planning a boxing comeback, Mick organised an exhibition match against Andy in February 1917. ‘He entered the ring, mud fat,’ wrote the Weekly Times. ‘Mick made an inglorious showing, being dropped in the second round, while he had great difficulty despite a 2½-stone advantage in seeing three rounds out.’


His life as a professional boxer over, Mick’s new career began that November when he and Bina took over the London Hotel in Collingwood. To economise – and get help with baby Patricia – the couple moved into the Ashworth Street home of Bina’s parents. While Mick would work the bar, Bina officially held the licence. This arrangement reflected her take-charge attitude and, at a time of much concern over illegal betting in pubs, also averted the possibility that her husband would be turned down because of his ties to the gambling game – legal and perhaps otherwise. Six o’clock closing had been introduced a year earlier, making it a tricky time to get into the hotel business. To stay on the right side of the law, Mick had to ensure drinkers were out the door by that time. It wasn’t an easy or pleasant task, particularly when ejecting drunk men recently maimed and/or made mad in places like Gallipoli, Fromelles and Bullecourt. No doubt Mick was often asked whether he – the famous fighter – had done his bit ‘over there’. In January 1917, Referee had reported he ‘once looked like moving to the front’, suggesting Mick tried to sign up and was rebuffed.


In the autumn of 1918, Mick tried to restart his VFL career by signing with Collingwood. But the old magic eluded him – he played only nine games, scored a modest ten goals and was off the team when the Magpies faced South Melbourne in that year’s Grand Final. Collingwood lost in a nailbiter, but Mick had consolation for his double disappointment because by then Bina was expecting another baby.
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The weeks leading up to the birth of the girl who would be known as ‘Australia’s Sweetheart’ were dramatic, tragic and terrifying. Early February 1919 saw a heatwave engulf Melbourne, and the air was hazy and harsh with smoke from bushfires on the city’s outskirts. Yet the threat posed by Spanish flu was far worse. The pandemic had reached Melbourne on 21 January and was soon putting a hundred citizens a week into their graves. Authorities tried to dispel rumours that the pestilence was actually bubonic plague. But they couldn’t deny the disease’s horrific virulence: people in perfect health in the morning could by evening have drowned in their own mucus and blood. Frighteningly, the most vulnerable were people Mick and Bina’s age, with pregnant women at greatest risk and their unborn babies in danger of dying in utero even if their mothers recovered. To prevent the spread of infection, race meetings and other sporting events were cancelled, and hotels, theatres, cinemas, music and concert halls were closed. The Maguires could still go to church, provided they wore masks at indoor services or endured the heat at alfresco masses offered in gardens and on tennis courts. Authorities urged people to engage in a ‘quiet, cheerful life’ at home – though life at Ashworth Street wouldn’t have been that quiet, not with toddler Patricia, or that cheerful, not with heat and smoke let into the house by anti-influenza directives that doors and windows be left open for ventilation.


Conditions eased in the third week of February. Rains doused the fires, temperatures slipped back to bearable and influenza deaths decreased. However, with hospitals still overflowing, it was far safer for Bina to give birth at Ashworth Street.


Yet even the sanctity of the Australian family home wasn’t guaranteed in Middle Park that weekend. The night before Bina’s baby came, the quiet of a suburb under virtual quarantine was shattered by gunshots when a returned Digger ran amok with a revolver. Storming into the house he had shared with his estranged wife, he shot dead their two-year-old daughter, put four bullets into the man he believed to be his wife’s lover, and then blew out his own miserable brains. Melbourne was reeling from this tragic news when Hélène Teresa Maguire – who would be called Peggy and later Mary – was born on Saturday, 22 February 1919.




2.


Little Hélène thrived. Melbourne was on the road to recovery. Temperatures eased, infections and deaths dropped, public buildings reopened. But in mid-autumn another influenza wave hit, killing nearly thirteen hundred people in six weeks. This time, though, the defiant city didn’t come to a standstill, and soon the Maguires took over the Carters Arms Hotel in Northcote. As the year progressed, the epidemic burned itself out and life gradually went back to normal. Quarantined soldiers came home, cars were more common on the streets, and films like The Man from Kangaroo, starring Snowy Baker, and The Sentimental Bloke, directed by Raymond Longford, showed that Australians could make movies every bit as good as those coming from Hollywood.


The Roaring Twenties was more an American than an Australian concept, yet Melbourne would soon exhibit some of the trappings of the era with the birth of broadcast radio and the strains of jazz coming from clubs where smart young women adopted the flapper style. As the decade got under way, the Maguires enjoyed a new era of prosperity as hotel proprietors. Hélène was by then a plump, healthy toddler. A photo of her at eighteen months of age shows her in a grassy backyard, sunlight in her short curls, dressed like a prize fighter in shorts and booties with one hand in a little boxing glove.


Not long after this picture was taken Mick and Bina added another daughter to their brood – Joan, born in April 1921 – and sold the Carters Arms licence to take over the Yarraville Hotel in Footscray. Over the next fifteen months, the Maguires bought and sold numerous hotel licences, with their eldest daughter, Patricia, later recalling that as a child she and her sisters frequently travelled with their parents in taxis between these pubs. Though they were short-term investments, records indicate the family sometimes lived on the premises, as with the Yarraville Hotel, the Palmerston Hotel in South Melbourne and the Gilbert Club Hotel in Kerang in country Victoria. It was a peripatetic lifestyle that showed the couple would take risks and move to further their interests – just as Mick had done as a teenager by defecting from Richmond to Melbourne, and as Bina had demonstrated by striking out for Bendigo as a single woman. Husband and wife were similar in this respect, yet one of Mick’s mates later confirmed that she was the brains behind their business strategy. ‘Lunching with the clan Maguire, I decided that Mick had been lucky in his matrimonial choice,’ the friend wrote in a newspaper column. ‘Mrs Maguire was a sparkling and radiant personality in any class or company … Under the wife’s direction the family fortunes prospered.’


In July 1922, Mick and Bina poured these fortunes into the Bull & Mouth Hotel in Melbourne’s busy Bourke Street. This historic hotel, with its famous gold-painted plaster bull’s head mounted over the public bar, formed the backdrop for Hélène’s earliest childhood memories. The three-storey Bull & Mouth had been built around 1851, when Victoria’s gold rush was just beginning. With its central Bourke Street location, near the corner of Swanston Street, it held a prime position opposite the staging post for Cobb & Co coaches bound for Ballarat, Bendigo and beyond.


With Melbourne’s population quadrupling in three years, business boomed at the Bull & Mouth. Predating similar saloons in the American west by several years, it was a wild place where men pounded cheap drinks in a fug of tobacco smoke, sought out other pleasures in upstairs rooms and occasionally concluded arguments with their fists. On an infamous occasion around this time, a jealous husband pulled out a revolver in the dining room and shot the man he suspected of cuckolding him. The victim fell down with a bullet hole in his forehead and an exit wound at the back of his head. Just a few minutes later he got up, very much alive; the bullet had glanced off his frontal bone, traversed around the skull beneath the skin and popped out opposite where it entered. Despite – or perhaps because of – such ribaldry, the Bull & Mouth was one of the Bourke Street businesses that survived the post–gold rush slump and other later economic fluctuations. By the early 1900s this part of the city remained a lively if seedy entertainment district, where thirty bars operated until late at night and criminal gangs like Squizzy Taylor’s Bourke Street Rats flourished. Though Squizzy was shot and wounded just a block away from the Bull & Mouth in October 1922, Bourke Street was becoming better known for its shopping and movie theatres by the time the Maguires took over the hotel.


Everyone now knew Hélène as ‘Peggy’. The nickname suited her – she was an angelic and energetic dark-eyed child just like tiny American movie tyke Baby Peggy Montgomery. This little star’s films, with titles like Peggy, Behave!, Little Miss Mischief, Helen’s Babies, Little Miss Hollywood and Peg o’ the Movies, packed cinemas all along Bourke Street. Two of these theatres were right next door to the Bull & Mouth: the Britannia, the city’s first purpose-built cinema, and the Melba, also a busy motion-picture house. On the other side of the Melba on the corner of Swanston Street rose The Leviathan, offering five storeys of shopping in one of the city’s first department stores. The Bull & Mouth’s east-side neighbour was the sprawling Cole’s Book Arcade, which stocked some two million volumes, justifying its claim to be ‘the largest bookstore in the world’. For Patricia, Peggy and little Joan, the Bull & Mouth stood at the centre of a wonderland. The Britannia and Melba each ran one or two new films weekly. There they could marvel at the movies of not only Baby Peggy but also Charlie Chaplin, Mary Pickford, Douglas Fairbanks, Gloria Swanson, Marion Davies, Charles Farrell and Janet Gaynor. When nothing at the pictures appealed, Cole’s famous motto promised ‘Read as Long as You Like – Nobody Asked to Buy’. But the Maguires didn’t even have to leave home for entertainment. From the Bull & Mouth’s first-storey balcony they could watch all of Melbourne pass by, which was particularly exciting on Anzac Day and other special occasions that saw Bourke Street lined with tens of thousands of people. Each St Patrick’s Day, Mick put their grandmother Ellen in a chair out there with a beer and cigarette so she could watch the parade.


For Mick and Bina, the Bull & Mouth’s central location made it a money-spinner – even if that very popularity sometimes put them in peril and in the public eye. ‘Busy as Bourke Street at rush hour’ was as true then as it is now: the thoroughfare teemed with pedestrians, cable trams and motor vehicles. But the busiest pockets were the public bars between knock-off and early closing. Every workday the Bull & Mouth attracted a ‘thirsty multitude’ for a frenzy of drinking that recalled the pub’s riotous gold rush era – and it was up to Mick to get them out the door by six o’clock six days a week. In early December 1922 he failed and faced court. Mick’s lawyer explained his client’s daily dilemma: he risked prosecution if he refused men service at 5.59 p.m., and a fine if he didn’t have them all out and the doors closed a minute later. The magistrate expressed sympathy at the task of ‘emptying half-muddled and cantankerous men from the bar on the stroke of six o’clock’ but said the law was the law and fined Mick £7.


Bina made a more sensational court appearance in relation to the Bull & Mouth in February 1923 when she testified in the murder case that was the talk of Melbourne. The previous November, Bertha Coughlan, a 28-year-old woman from country Victoria, had come to stay at the hotel while supposedly seeking medical treatment for an ear complaint. Bina made her acquaintance and twice noticed her in the company of a tall man. One morning, she found Bertha crying in one of the hotel’s lounges. Bina was gently rebuffed when she asked after the woman’s health, offered to help and tried to cheer her up. Bertha then walked out of the Bull & Mouth and seemed to drop off the face of the earth. She remained missing until 2 February 1923, when police found her badly decomposed body – and decapitated head – in a sack in the Yarra River. Police charged Hannah Mitchell, a backyard abortionist, with the murder. Trial proceedings indicated the tall man Bina had seen was Bertha’s lover and that he had sent her off to have her pregnancy terminated. That resulted in her death, a cover-up, the grisly disposal of the corpse and Hannah Mitchell then attempting to murder her ex-husband when he threatened to expose the crime. Remarkably, she beat the charges – just as she would later walk free again in similar cases.


Mick next fronted court in September 1923, testifying against a man whom he had ejected from the Bull & Mouth. The bloke had then come back with three or four mates and bashed Mick.


All of that paled in comparison with what happened at the end of October. After police went on strike, unrest spread and violent skirmishes broke out around picket lines. But disorder exploded into a riot as young men spilled from city pubs at six o’clock on Saturday, 3 November. On Bourke Street a group of sailors tried to stop the crowd from looting The Leviathan. They were beaten by the mob, who smashed the shop windows and helped themselves to goods. The rioters then swarmed along Bourke Street. A terrified box-office girl at the Britannia grabbed the takings and fled into the Bull & Mouth. Cinema staff locked the theatre’s entrance doors behind her, and in the auditorium moviegoers huddled in fear as they listened to shouting and smashing outside. The mob burst in, surged through the cinema, and then rushed out and on to more mayhem. While neighbouring businesses suffered serious damage, the Bull & Mouth was passed over, suggesting Mick’s boxing prowess deterred the thugs. Anarchy spread through the city, with rioters attacking any police still on duty, commandeering trams and targeting jewellery stores. One hundred thousand people came from the suburbs to watch the spectacle. Great War hero General Sir John Monash organised a volunteer militia of thousands of men to take back the streets with baton charges in scenes that called to mind the Russian Revolution. Sunday morning saw Bourke Street shopfronts barricaded. By Monday morning the rioters had retreated in the face of heavy rain and streets patrolled by soldiers armed with rifles. The madness had left three people dead and four hundred injured.


In mid-June 1924 Mick could have been forgiven for thinking it might be about to happen again after he confronted a drunk who entered the Bull & Mouth at 7.00 p.m. and demanded a drink. When the man let fly a string of obscenities, Mick kept his cool and called the cops. As he helped two constables take the resisting lout to the city watch house, a mob gathered and followed them. ‘At the intersection of Swanston and Lonsdale Streets, many persons joined the others,’ reported The Argus. ‘The crowd began hooting, and several policemen were sent from headquarters.’ Fortunately the mob dispersed.


Less than a week later Mick and Bina had another close call when they were in a head-on collision while motoring back to Melbourne from a short holiday. Their Studebaker was destroyed, but the couple emerged from the wreckage miraculously uninjured. A passenger in the other vehicle wasn’t so lucky, suffering head and face wounds that required surgery and resulted in permanent disfigurement. The victim sued for £499, claiming that Mick was the negligent driver. Mick’s defence – that the trouble had started because the plaintiff’s driver had been on the wrong side of the road – appeared to be partially accepted by the judge, who nevertheless ordered him to pay £125 in damages. Bina fared better when she was next in court, in October 1926, defending a charge of assault brought by a Bull & Mouth waitress. The former employee presented photographs of bruises to support her claim for £49 in damages, saying Bina had manhandled her before physically throwing her from the hotel. The judge tossed out the case.


Peggy was too young to know much of these events, though a massive murderous mob on her doorstep might have imprinted itself indelibly. Regardless of what she remembered, Bina and Mick’s triumphs, trials and tribulations meant that she and her four sisters – Carmel was born in 1924; baby Mary, nicknamed ‘Lupe’, followed in 1925 – grew up with a rich family lore. In their stories, her parents were always central to the action and always justified, whether on country roads and footy fields, in boxing rings and courts of law, in their very own historic hotel or out on the mean streets of Melbourne. The lesson – supported by scrapbooks filled with newspaper reports, sports articles and even Mick’s football trading cards – was that her parents weren’t ordinary and that the Maguire girls weren’t going to be either.
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Bina was determined her daughters would all marry millionaires. Just how she would introduce her girls to such gentlemen wasn’t clear. The Maguires were well off but not wealthy, and the Bull & Mouth was hardly an upper-class venue like the Menzies or the Windsor. But Bina could at least increase her daughters’ chances of making such marriages by ensuring they were schooled as gentlewomen.


In 1924 Peggy joined Patricia as a student at the Academy of Mary Immaculate, which had been founded by the Sisters of Mercy back in 1857. In this imposing bluestone edifice on Nicholson Street opposite the Royal Exhibition Building – where Australia’s federation was born – Peggy began her ‘chalk and talk’ rote education in English, French, history, geography, art, music and mathematics. The nuns also ensured rigorous religious instruction and took students to weekly benediction and monthly confession at St Patrick’s Cathedral. Peggy learnt how to be a proper young lady, attending classes in deportment and elocution, the nuns making sure she and every other student was sick of hearing mantras like: ‘Knees together, feet together, hands joined and dresses over knees!’ When she wasn’t at school, she was taking ballet and violin lessons, and would soon add piano and singing to her repertoire.


Peggy made her performing debut in October 1924 at the ‘Princess Carnival’, a highlight of the Academy school year. At this night-time concert, held in front of the city’s Catholic hierarchy, she contributed a rendition of ‘Baa-Baa Black Sheep’ while Patricia did a ‘Red Riding Hood’ rhyme. Then came the elaborate ceremony to reveal who would be crowned ‘Princess of Princesses’ for raising the most money for a new school building. Alongside her four competitors, sumptuously gowned ‘Princess Patricia’ took to the stage – accompanied by prettily frocked maid of honour Peggy and tiny trainbearer Joan. The crowd held its breath for the big moment. The winner was … Princess Patricia! To deafening applause, she was crowned by Archbishop Daniel Mannix. Bina and Mick were elated for their girls and themselves, the family having raised £520 to their nearest rival’s £470, with the entire event bringing in a whopping £1477 ($116 000 today). Melbourne’s Catholic newspaper The Advocate published a photo of Patricia flanked by Peggy and Joan.


For the Maguire girls, this was a taste of fame and perhaps even a realisation they were competing for centrestage. They did, after all, come from a family of sibling rivalries, with frequent comparisons made between their dad’s and uncle Andy’s boxing careers, and most of their mum’s brothers and sisters also running prominent Melbourne hotels.


Bina and Mick were thrilled with the ‘Princess Carnival’ newspaper story. They were also pleased to have friends in high places, given how powerful Dr Mannix had become in Melbourne, and how close he was to his neighbour and Mick’s old boxing backer, John Wren. Their family ties with Dr Mannix – and their standing in the Catholic community – were further strengthened when Mick’s parents joined the Archbishop on the first Australian National Holy Year Pilgrimage to the Vatican in mid-1925. A year later, they were able to call in favours from major Melbourne figures when Mick’s nineteen-year-old sister Marie raised money for a St Vincent’s Hospital building appeal via a grown-up ‘Queen’ charity competition. The major event of her campaign was a special performance of Give and Take at the Athenaeum Theatre, starring world-famous American comedian Harry Green and Australian funnyman Roy ‘Mo’ Rene. They both gave their services free. Prominent showman E. J. Carroll – another business partner of John Wren and producer of two of Snowy Baker’s movies before he went to Hollywood – also provided his venue at no cost.


Marie’s ‘Queen’ campaign fell short, with her ranking fourth in a field of six, though the Maguires still raised a tidy £1963 ($150 000) for the hospital. But before the decade was out she would make a more lasting contribution to the church by taking the vow of silence required to become a cloistered and contemplative Carmelite nun. It was an inspiring time to join the order: Marie Françoise-Thérèse Martin, a young Carmelite nun who had died of tuberculosis, had been canonised Saint Thérèse by the Pope just before Dr Mannix and the Maguires arrived in the Vatican on pilgrimage. In time Marie Maguire became mother prioress of the order in Australia.
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In March 1927, after nearly five years, the Maguires sold the Bull & Mouth’s licence and took over the Melbourne Hotel, just up the way on the corner of Bourke and Exhibition streets. It was a quieter venue that helped them avoid headline and courtroom dramas. Peggy was by now a pretty and popular Academy student, if a bit average academically. What she wanted more than anything was to be on stage. The Academy gave her the chance to perform at the end-of-year prize-giving ceremonies. In 1928, aged nine, she did an Irish jig and took a role in a scene from The Merchant of Venice, while the following year she was a slave in a Christian persecution drama called The Roses of St Dorothy.


Peggy was also soaking up everything she saw at the cinema. Movies were then enjoying popularity never seen before or since in Australia, with most kids having the ‘picture habit’ of attending a double feature or two every weekend. Peggy was even more obsessed, called ‘film crazy’ by family, friends and teachers. Although she felt guilty, she would wag school to watch movies, with one such truancy resulting in her seeing her name on the silver screen for the very first time. There Peggy was, hiding in the dark in a Bourke Street theatre, waiting for the program to start, when to her horror a notice was projected on-screen telling her to come home. Peggy rushed from the cinema, arrived back at the hotel and confessed in a deluge of tears. Bina and Mick had called the school asking that she be sent home for some reason – only to be told by the nuns that Peggy wasn’t present. Remembering that she had enthused about a new movie, they found out where it was showing and pulled their heart-stopping stunt. It was a lesson Peggy wouldn’t forget – whenever she planned to wag in future, she was sure not to talk about the film she wanted to see in the presence of her parents.


Peggy had no shortage of cinemas in which to hide. In 1929 more than a dozen were within a few blocks of the Melbourne Hotel, including majestic picture palaces The Capitol, the State Theatre and The Regent. Peggy had wide tastes, adoring romance, drama and comedy, and saw the biggest hits of the day, all in sumptuous surroundings with live orchestral accompaniment. By now Baby Peggy Montgomery was all washed up at age eleven. Instead Peggy Maguire saw the likes of Greta Garbo in Flesh and the Devil; Clara Bow in It; Charlie Chaplin in The Circus; Buster Keaton in The General; and Janet Gaynor paired with Charles Farrell in 7th Heaven and again in Street Angel. She also had the chance to see popular Australian productions, such as The Kid Stakes, For the Term of His Natural Life, and Charles Chauvel’s The Moth of Moonbi and Greenhide. Yet being ‘film crazy’ meant more than just seeing movies: Peggy could learn about the lives, loves and careers of stars in newspapers, women’s journals, local movie magazine Everyones, and imported American fan rags such as Photoplay, Screenland and Moving Picture Stories.


Peggy’s film fervour intensified just before her tenth birthday, when talkies arrived in Melbourne on 2 February 1929. At the Athenaeum, The Jazz Singer offered Al Jolson speaking a few lines of dialogue and singing six of his songs. His wasn’t the only sound feature starting that day. At The Auditorium, heartthrob Charles Farrell starred in The Red Dance, which had a magnificent synchronised musical soundtrack. More sound pictures followed, with Peggy enamoured of The Four Feathers, The Return of Sherlock Holmes and anything else starring British heartthrob Clive Brook. But she reserved her greatest enthusiasm for MGM’s The Broadway Melody, which took her behind the scenes of a stage show. Not only was this Hollywood’s first true musical, it also featured a Technicolor sequence. Peggy was a huge fan, seeing the movie every day until she had mastered the dance routines performed by its wise-cracking dames.


In June 1930 Peggy showed off her footwork and dramatic skills in The Doll’s House Tea Party at the University of Melbourne’s beautiful Melba Hall. A medley of songs and dances, the show was part of a matinee entertainment program for the Million Shillings Fund to establish a permanent Melbourne orchestra. The initiative had been made even more poignant by hundreds of musicians being put out of work as cinemas converted to sound, just when economic conditions were worsening in the wake of the previous year’s Wall Street Crash. The Age and The Argus ran photos of the cast in costume, with Peggy distinctive in a maid’s black blouse and banded hat, while little sisters Carmel and Lupe wore white dresses and bows as visiting dolls. A few months later, Peggy was among forty youngsters doing The Toymaker’s Dream as a ballet on ice at the Glaciarium. In December, she had a lead role in Fairy Princess, a production of songs, dances and drama staged at Werribee’s Corpus Christi College, with Joan playing in support. Peggy accidentally delighted the audience when the ascending curtain caught the train of her fairy-queen frock and she was lifted into the air over the stage.


By April 1931 the family had taken over the Hotel Metropole, also on Bourke Street and then attached to the swanky Metropole Arcade. Having lived in the heart of Melbourne for nearly a decade, the Maguires were a striking and familiar sight: the handsome former sportsman, his charming and beautiful wife, and their five pretty daughters who ranged in size like Russian dolls. In that year’s September school holidays, Peggy made her modest professional debut in the pantomime Jack and the Beanstalk, staged as a supporting show meant to help lure increasingly cash-strapped audiences to Mary Pickford’s new movie comedy Kiki at Melbourne’s State Theatre. Headlined by a trio of well-known Australian adult actors, she was in the all-girl chorus, called on to sing, dance and crack the occasional joke, just like the heroines of The Broadway Melody. It wasn’t a starring role for Peggy, but it was a starry experience because the State Theatre was one of Australia’s five great ‘atmospheric’ picture palaces. Behind its grand oriental exterior were 3400 seats set amid ornate Florentine statuary and backlit temple façades, all beneath a sky-blue vaulted ceiling across which wispy clouds drifted. In this garden of dreams, Peggy played three shows a day for a week, giving her plenty of opportunity to watch and re-watch the featured film until its title card – ‘Joseph M. Schenck presents Mary Pickford … in Kiki’ – became as familiar as the dance routines by an up-and-coming choreographer named Busby Berkeley. It wouldn’t be that long before she was on a first-name basis with all three of these Hollywood personalities.
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Yet if any Maguire girl was predicted to one day befriend such Hollywood luminaries, the smart money really would have been on Joan. A better elocutionist than her sisters, she landed the title role in Red Riding Hood at the Playhouse opposite two veteran adult actors in December 1931. The Advocate ran a photo of her. ‘The gifted young player,’ the caption read, ‘who is only ten years of age, is the daughter of Mr and Mrs Mick Maguire, of the Metropole Hotel.’ The accompanying review called her ‘one of the most outstanding juveniles seen on the Melbourne stage for years’. Such praise delighted her parents – and had to have made Patricia and Peggy just a little jealous.


But by then the Maguire lasses were wondering if they might be screen rather than stage stars. In 1930 Frank Thring had resigned as chairman of the Bourke Street–based Hoyts cinema chain to set up Australia’s first ‘talkie studio’. His Efftee Films would have as its sound stage His Majesty’s Theatre, whose interior had recently been badly fire damaged. It was at this studio in late 1931, just two blocks from the Maguires’ hotel, that Thring made Australia’s first feature-length talkie hit, Diggers, a comedy set on the Western Front of the Great War and based on its star Pat Hanna’s wildly popular revue show. But Efftee had an even bigger drawcard in George Wallace, beloved on Australia’s vaudeville circuit, who the next year made His Royal Highness for the company. When George, who loved a drink and a good time, was filming his follow-up flick Harmony Row, he stayed with the Maguires at the Hotel Metropole. At a dinner Mick hosted for the South Melbourne football club, the comedian ‘kept the gathering in roars of laughter at his witticisms’, helped out by other guests: British actor Alfred Frith, who had played opposite Bela Lugosi in Broadway smash Dracula, and American burlesque performer June Mills, famous after a stupendous run in Melbourne as the star of Show Boat. Patricia, Peggy and Joan were surely part of that night’s entertainment. ‘They were delightful little girls but they always had the manner of adults,’ a family friend recalled later. ‘They loved “dressing up” and I can see them now strutting about in the jewels and furs of anybody who was willing to indulge them.’ Whether that night or on another occasion, June Mills saw something in Peggy and recommended her to Pat Hanna for his next movie, Diggers in Blighty.


This sequel would have Pat Hanna, George Moon and Joe Valli’s larrikin soldiers going from the Western Front to the safety of leave in London. There were several prominent supporting female roles, and Hanna, making his directorial debut, wanted Peggy for one of these. Frustratingly, Victoria’s Education Department refused the girl who had wagged school so often to see movies an official leave of absence to appear in one. Hanna made it up to her with a bit part as a secretary. Thrillingly, at just thirteen, Peggy was going to be in an Australian talkie and share a scene with its three biggest stars.


Anyone entertaining visions of Hollywood glamour was in for a rude shock on walking into Efftee Studios in October 1932. His Majesty’s Theatre’s stage was intact and usable for sets, but the fire had ruined the orchestra pit and stalls. Pat Hanna had further messed them up with sand and mud to make a sludgy facsimile of the trenches. The makeshift studio was primitively soundproofed with rock-wool and heavy curtains, yet nothing could stop the twisted girders and steel seat frames left by the fire from acting as radio receivers to fill the cavernous space with static, ghostly voices and snatches of songs. Scenes were sometimes delayed for hours until there were a few minutes of blessed silence. ‘The place is ridden with wireless music,’ cursed little Scotsman Joe Valli.


On her big day, Peggy was made up in the gaudy yellow greasepaint actors then wore so their skin appeared normally on film. In a white blouse and dark skirt, black hair gleaming in a permanent wave, she took her place in the London office set of an uptight British army paymaster. Pat Hanna told her all she had to do was look and act secretarial by typing and filing in the background while her boss and his underling were mocked by the film’s leading ladies and male stars. He showed her the script of the scene and where she was to utter a single subversive syllable – somewhere between a hiccup and a snort – to puncture her commanding officer’s most pompous statement.


As is the case on film sets, downtime was filled with industry talk, giving Peggy a chance to learn much about her co-stars and how movies were really made. She also got a glimpse of the way screen fame could fade because Raymond Longford, pioneering director of the Australian silent era, was working on the film. Broken by the tuberculosis death of Lottie Lyell, his partner in love and movie-making, he had been reduced to associate director and playing a ham role as a German spy.


Pat Hanna called for action and the camera rolled on Peggy’s long scene. She did what was asked of her and timed her interjection nicely.


As she made her way home, Peggy’s head had to be spinning. She was one of the few Australians who could say they had seen the other side of the silver screen where talkie stars lived and worked. With Frank Thring’s ambition promising that more movies would be made in Melbourne, bigger roles would surely come her way. Around this time, Table Talk correspondent Stanley Parker met Peggy at dance-and-dinner venue The Rex. As the youngster ate an ice-cream sundae, he asked about her ambitions. ‘To be a film star by the time I’m eighteen,’ she told him. ‘To make pictures in Hollywood by the time I’m twenty. To be able to look after my family. To see my name in electric lights in London before I’m twenty-one.’ Having accomplished all of that, she wanted to marry: ‘After all, that is every woman’s real ambition.’


Diggers in Blighty was a step towards realising those dreams. But Peggy’s hopes of making more Melbourne movies were dashed when her parents announced their big news: the family was moving a thousand miles north to take over Brisbane’s historic Belle Vue Hotel. The announcement had to be traumatic for all of the Maguire girls, soon to leave behind the only lives they had ever known at the centre of Melbourne.


Bina and Mick had a plan. The hotel trade was getting ever tougher in Melbourne as the Great Depression put nearly one in three men out of work. With conditions so grim, people travelled less and booked fewer hotel rooms. They also drank far less, and Australian beer consumption had nearly halved. Not helping matters was that the Licences Reduction Board had slashed the number of hotels in Victoria in the past quarter century, while increasing land values in Melbourne’s city centre meant pubs were being demolished for redevelopment. But Brisbane – that was a different story. Queensland’s agricultural economy and state government policy had slightly softened the Depression, keeping more men in jobs or at least on relief work with a few shillings in their pockets. And the government wasn’t demolishing pubs. Mick’s brother Andy had also just moved there, buying a huge horse stud in the Darling Downs, though the two men had become estranged since their boxing days.


If it hadn’t been the Belle Vue on offer, Bina and Mick probably wouldn’t have moved. But this particular hotel provided more than just a good business opportunity and a chance to escape Melbourne’s doldrums – it presented a rare opportunity in 1930s Australia. As proprietors of the Belle Vue, the Maguires might leave behind the middle class and enter the upper echelons of polite society.


Minds made up, Mick and Bina spent Christmas in Melbourne with both sides of the family. Then, in January 1933, they headed north with their girls.
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After Melbourne’s million-person metropolis, Brisbane’s population of just three hundred thousand must have made it seem a little like an overgrown country town to the Maguire girls. But Peggy and her sisters were now the young mistresses of a grand and historic landmark. Located at the crossroads of state power, the Belle Vue shared the intersection of George and Alice streets with Parliament House, the Queensland Club and the city’s Botanic Gardens. Even before the state became a separate colony from New South Wales in 1859, this prime site was occupied by Belle Vue House, used for a time as a ‘Seminary for Young Ladies’. The name – reflecting the sweeping views – was retained when the first Belle Vue Hotel was erected as a one-storey, shingle-roofed building in the mid-1860s. Two decades later a new owner set about raising a hotel whose grandeur complemented Parliament House and the Queensland Club. Opening in 1886, this new Belle Vue was a three-storey brick and stone architectural masterpiece with a deep street verandah to protect from the sun and an enclosed rear garden courtyard. There were single rooms, double rooms and private suites with hot and cold baths, and balconies offering privacy behind exquisite iron-lace railings. Lavishly appointed, the hotel had a private bar, billiard parlour, vast dining room, numerous lounges, and telephone connections to all the city’s important public and private offices. A hotel waiter met arriving river steamers, and each morning a barber ensured guests looked their best. Over the past fifty years, it had been a place where the rich and powerful shaped the fate of the city and the state.


The Belle Vue was a huge step up for the Maguires and it aligned perfectly with Bina’s grand plan for her daughters. ‘If you want to marry money,’ she was fond of saying, ‘you’ve got to go where the money is. You simply have to go to the right places.’ While the Bull & Mouth had been colourful, and the Metropole frequented by famous show people, few places in Australia were better than the Belle Vue to meet the right moneyed people. The visitor books proved it. Here were the signatures of Australian prime ministers, premiers, governors-general, high court judges, business tycoons and wealthy graziers, along with local and international celebrities such as Oscar Asche, Dame Nellie Melba, Sir Arthur Conan Doyle and – in 1920, 1924 and 1928 – the visiting English cricket teams. The Belle Vue had also enjoyed royal favour. The Prince of Wales (the future King Edward VIII) was fond of dropping in for a drink during his 1920 tour. As a measure of thanks he gave a table, specially made for his use in Parliament House and autographed on its underside, to the Belle Vue. In 1927, when his brother, the Duke of York (the future King George VI), visited Brisbane, he also drank in the private bar.


The Maguires took over the Belle Vue on Australia Day 1933.


Peggy, though not yet fourteen, had reached her adult height of five feet and already appeared to be a beautiful young lady. She had deep brown eyes, long chestnut curls and a healthy complexion from riding horses and playing golf and tennis. Her beauty was matched by a kind nature, soft voice, cheeky smile, quick sense of humour and the self-possession that came from growing up amid a passing parade of hotel patrons. She settled into her new home town quickly. Two days after her parents became the Belle Vue’s hosts, she and older socialite Mercia Doran went to the Ascot races, with Peggy looking very sophisticated in a Truth photograph. Bina and Mick, too, were quickly in the good graces of Archbishop James Duhig, who had been head of Brisbane’s Catholic Church since 1917 and was Queensland’s answer to Melbourne’s Dr Mannix.


The Monday following her day at the races, Peggy and Joan started day school at Loreto College at Coorparoo, south of the Brisbane River, while Carmel and Lupe were enrolled as boarders. With just forty or so pupils across all grades, Loreto was quaint after the Academy. Peggy remained a restless student, more so now she was just weeks away from the school-leaving age, and would have envied older sister Patricia, who had finished her studies back in Melbourne. But irritation about a new year at a new school was eclipsed by the excitement of famous visitors checking into the Belle Vue.


Captain Douglas Jardine and his English cricket team became guests of the Maguire family at the height of the Bodyline controversy. Under Jardine’s orders, bowlers unleashed fast balls pitched short to bounce high at Australian batsmen. Popular fury rose at the tactic most believed to be far from the spirit of the game. Tensions boiled over in mid-January during the Third Test in Adelaide when Aussie Bert Oldfield’s skull was fractured by a Harold Larwood bumper. While the offending ball hadn’t actually been a Bodyline delivery, fifty thousand furious spectators didn’t care, and only mounted police stopped them from invading the field. Australian cricket authorities sent cables of complaint to their counterparts in England, labelling Bodyline ‘unsportsmanlike’ and saying it threatened to upset ‘friendly relations’ between the two countries. There was talk of Australia seceding from the Empire, and the English team were said to genuinely fear for their lives. With the visitors leading 2–1 in the Ashes series, all eyes would be on the Fourth Test in Brisbane.


By the time the English team pulled up to the Belle Vue in a rattling charabanc, Jardine and Larwood were the most hated men in Australia. While the controversy saw the Queensland Club forbid official English team dinners on its premises, Jardine and his players were to find hospitality, friendship and protection at the Belle Vue across the road. Bodyline might have been testing Australia’s national identity and Anglophile loyalties, but Mick and Bina had no doubts about whose side they were on – their own. The English cricketers presented a terrific publicity opportunity for the Maguires to announce they were now hosts of the Belle Vue. Mick booked a larger-than-usual ad in The Telegraph that said he was personally supervising these important visitors so they might have rest, quiet and service. Bina announced a charity dinner-dance that would have the English team as guests of honour.


Jardine’s public persona was ‘Pommy bastard’ but privately he was capable of warmth, charm and humour. As his hosts for nearly two weeks, the Maguires had the chance to see this side of the man. And, with Patricia, Peggy and Joan each night dressing in their finery and eating together in the dining room, Jardine and his team couldn’t miss the daughters of his hosts. How the girls got about at less formal times also caught the eye. Veteran Australian reporter Gilbert Mant travelled with the English team and wrote:




We all became a happy family with the Maguires. One of the reasons for us liking the Belle Vue so much was the presence of the licensee, Mick Maguire, and his wife and their three beautiful teenaged daughters. The three girls were nubile beauties who used to race along the hotel verandahs in the early morning rather scantily clad, shouting and giggling. It was said that Jardine took a shine to one of them. The fact was that we all took a shine to all of them.





The daughter Jardine liked most was Peggy, as Australian Test cricketer Bill O’Reilly discovered when he accepted an invitation to the English team’s communal Saturday night dinner at the Belle Vue. What he saw in the dining room surprised him: there at the head of the table, sitting beside the English captain, was thirteen-year-old Peggy Maguire. Though there’s nothing to suggest this was anything more than friendship, Jardine took such a liking to her that he gave her a gold watch. Peggy had to feel flattered by the attention of the famous older man and much later told an American gossip columnist she had been ‘that way’ over a man named Doug in Brisbane. Her acquaintance with Jardine also came with the strange dissonance of learning the private charms of a publicly despised figure. The angry crowds, political leaders and newspaper columnists: they just hadn’t seen him the same way she had. It was an experience she would later repeat with another very different English captain.


During the team’s stay, Peggy also knew something else few others did. With Brisbane sweltering in a heatwave, the Belle Vue’s private bar was a haven for the thirsty English cricketers, whose safety couldn’t be ensured at other Brisbane pubs. Mick could also lend a sympathetic ear as someone who knew what it was like to be abused by a hateful crowd, having spent his youth belting and being belted on the footy field and in the boxing ring. Those very pugilistic skills protected the bonds of Empire one night when Mick was entertaining English players Harold Larwood, Bill Voce, Les Ames, George Duckworth and Tommy Mitchell, along with Australian journalist Gilbert Mant. As they enjoyed their beers, a huge, bearded local strode into the bar and started hassling the diminutive Mitchell. Fired up with a few drinks, the little Englishman challenged the bushman to fisticuffs. Mant later recalled:




Suddenly the big stranger produced a large revolver from his pocket and brandished it in the air. I can’t remember whether it went off but we did. Harold says he vamoosed. I went under the bar, while Mick flattened the stranger with a perfect right cross.





Without Mick’s fist, newspaper headlines might have screamed ‘English Cricketer Shot Dead in Brisbane Hotel’, leaving a far darker historical understanding of the term ‘Bodyline War’.
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The English and Australian teams faced off on the first day of play at the Gabba on Friday, 10 February. The whole country held its breath to see if Bradman and his boys could mount a defence to save the Ashes. Peggy had another reason for nervous anticipation that day: Diggers in Blighty and Frank Thring’s new George Wallace comedy Harmony Row were set to premiere as a double-feature the very next night – albeit in Melbourne. The following week, newspapers reported the films had elicited a ‘cascade of mirth-made applause’ from a ‘thronged and enthusiastic audience’. One article claimed the films set such a standard that everyone should feel optimistic about the new talkie industry. ‘We are endeavouring to make Australian films of a worthy standard,’ Pat Hanna had told the premiere crowd, ‘and judging by the applause we are succeeding.’ Peggy was proud to have played her part – however small – but she would have to wait three long months for Diggers in Blighty to make its way to Brisbane.


Back at the Gabba, Bodyline was temporarily forgotten for a moment of cricketing heroism – in which Mick played a supporting role. On the second day of the test, English batsman Eddie Paynter took ill with a fever of 102 and was confined to hospital. On the Sunday rest day, Mick proved he truly was – as his advertisement had claimed – personally supervising the players when he delivered nourishing soups from the Belle Vue’s kitchen to Paynter’s hospital room. By Monday the Englishman had improved a little and was listening to the third day’s play on the radio when he heard his side faltering. Rising from his sickbed, Paynter demanded to be driven to the Belle Vue. There, he grabbed his cricket flannels and rushed to the Gabba to take the crease. Despite his fever and the stifling heat, Paynter hit a whopping eighty-three that put England in the lead. Then, on 16 February, the sixth day’s play, he hit the six that saw the English team win by six wickets and retain the Ashes. Viewed from an Australian perspective, Mick might have made those soups a little less nourishing.


Heavy rain drenched Brisbane that night but nothing could dampen spirits at the Belle Vue. While most Australians mourned the loss of the Ashes, Mick, Bina, Patricia and Peggy helped to host the charity gala that was now also an English victory celebration. Triumphant Douglas Jardine dined with his team and guests, and a bat autographed by the English side raised £21 at auction for a children’s charity. Jimmy Bancks, creator of Ginger Meggs, and Arthur Mailey, the Aussie Test cricketer turned cartoonist, did lightning sketches of guests that were sold to raise money for the cause. The hotel’s orchestra played for the sweaty dancers in the ballroom, parties enjoyed bridge in the lounge, and supper was served in the dining room spectacularly decorated with pink roses. Presiding over this glittering affair, Bina looked every bit the society matron, flanked by her beautiful young daughters Patricia and Peggy.


The next day Brisbane’s newspapers politely reported a sophisticated event held for a charitable cause. In his definitive book Bodyline Autopsy, cricket writer David Frith paints a more familiar picture of sportsmen letting off steam after a big win: ‘The Englishmen had a celebration dinner-dance that night, and there were schoolboy shenanigans back at the Belle Vue, with bed-clothing, shoes and whatnot strewn all over the hotel.’


The Maguires had arrived in Brisbane society. But they had even bigger and better plans for the Belle Vue, themselves and their daughters.
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As Peggy counted down the days to Diggers in Blighty’s local release, Bina and Mick set about restoring the Belle Vue to its status as the place to be in Brisbane. The renovations announced in March 1933 were to remodel the bar and offices; repair, repaper and refurbish the fifty-three guestrooms and suites; and, as a measure of what pubs were like in the days of the iceman, install a refrigeration plant and coldroom for the kitchen. Even more impressive were plans for the Belle Vue’s public areas. The hotel would have two new lounges and a big new ballroom that was to double dancer capacity to four hundred and offering the latest in luxury technology: air-conditioning.
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